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Exhibit 99.1

THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action to be taken, you should consult your
stockbroker or other registered dealer in securities, bank manager, solicitor, professional accountant or other
professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in CNOOC Limited you should at once pass this circular to the
purchaser or to the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale was effected for transmission to the
purchaser.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility
for the contents of this circular, and make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents
of this circular.

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability under the Companies Ordinance)
(Stock Code: 00883)

MAJOR TRANSACTION
IN RELATION TO THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF NEXEN

A letter from the Board is set out from pages 8 to 27 of this circular.
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DEFINITIONS

In this circular, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions have the following meanings:

“Announcement”

“APEGA”

“Arrangement”

“Arrangement Agreement”

“Arrangement Resolution”

“Articles of Arrangement”

“associate(s)”
“Board”

“C$” or “Cdn$”
“Canadian GAAP”
“Canadian GAAS”

“CBCA”

the announcement dated 23 July 2012 made by the Company in relation to the Proposed
Acquisition

the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of Alberta

an arrangement under Section 192 of the CBCA on the terms and subject to the
conditions set out in the Plan of Arrangement, subject to any amendments or variations
to the Plan of Arrangement made in accordance with the terms of the Arrangement
Agreement or made at the direction of the Court in the Final Order with the prior written
consent of Nexen and the Purchaser, each acting reasonably

the agreement dated 23 July 2012, Canada local time (23 July 2012, Hong Kong time)
entered into by the Company, the Purchaser and Nexen in relation to the Proposed

Acquisition

the special resolution approving the Plan of Arrangement considered by holders of
Common Shares at the Nexen company meeting

the articles of arrangement of Nexen in respect of the Arrangement, required by the
CBCA to be sent to the director appointed pursuant to Section 260 of the CBCA after
the Final Order is made, which shall include the Plan of Arrangement and otherwise be
in a form and content satisfactory to Nexen and the Purchaser, each acting reasonably
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

the board of Directors

Canadian dollars, the lawful currency of Canada

Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

Canadian Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

Canada Business Corporations Act

-1-
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DEFINITIONS

“Certificate of Arrangement” means the certificate of arrangement to be issued by the director appointed pursuant to

“CICA”

“CNOOC”

“COGEH”

“Collective Agreement”

“Common Shares”

“Company”

Section 260 of the CBCA pursuant to Section 192(7) of the CBCA in respect of the
Articles of Arrangement

Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants

China National Offshore Oil Corporation , an indirect controlling shareholder of the
Company holding approximately 64.45% of the Shares of the Company in issue through
OOGC and CNOOC (BVI) as at the Latest Practicable Date

Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook prepared jointly by the SPEE (Calgary
Chapter) and the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy & Petroleum (Petroleum
Society), as amended from time to time

all collective bargaining agreements or union agreements currently applicable to Nexen
and/or any of its subsidiaries and all related documents, including letters of
understanding, letters of intent and other written communications with bargaining agents
for any Nexen Employee which impose any obligations upon Nexen and/or any of its
subsidiaries

the common shares in the capital of Nexen
CNOOC Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, whose

shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and whose American depositary
receipts are listed on the NYSE

“Controlling Shareholder” or CNOOC (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with

“CNOOC (BVI)”
“Conditions”
“connected person(s)”

“Consideration”

limited liability

the conditions precedent to completion of the Proposed Acquisition

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

the consideration of US$27.50 in cash per Common Share, without interest, and

C$26.00 in cash per Preferred Share, together with accrued and unpaid dividends
thereon up to, but excluding, the Effective Date, without interest, as applicable

-0
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DEFINITIONS

“Court”

“Deloitte Canada”
“Deloitte Hong Kong”
“Director(s)”

“D&M”

“Effective Date”

“Effective Time”

“Enlarged Group”
“Final Order”
“Group”

“HK$”

“HKFRS”

“Hong Kong”

“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”

“IFRS”

“Independent Reserves

Evaluators™

“Interim Order”

“IQRE”

the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta, or other court as applicable

Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Chartered Accountants, Canada
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong

the directors of the Company

DeGolyer and MacNaughton

the date shown on the Certificate of Arrangement giving effect to the Arrangement

12:01 a.m. (Calgary local time) on the date shown on the Certificate of Arrangement
giving effect to the Arrangement

the Group as enlarged by the Proposed Acquisition

the final order of the Court approving the Plan of Arrangement

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

International Financial Reporting Standards

the independent reserves evaluators engaged by Nexen to assess its reserves estimates

the interim order of the Court providing for, among other things, the calling and holding

of the meeting of the holders of Common Shares and Preferred Shares

the internal qualified reserves evaluator of Nexen

-3-




Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

DEFINITIONS

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

“McDaniel”

“Nexen”

“Nexen Board”

“Nexen Constating
Documents”

“Nexen Employees”
“Nexen Group”
“Nexen Shares”

“NI51-1017

“NYSE”

“OOGC”

“Permitted Dividends”

17 December 2012, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this circular
for ascertaining certain information herein

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

McDaniel & Associates Consultants Ltd.

Nexen Inc., a company incorporated under the CBCA whose securities are listed on the
TSX and the NYSE under the symbol NXY

the board of directors of Nexen

the restated articles of incorporation and by-laws of Nexen and all amendments to such
articles or by-laws

the officers, employees and independent contractors of Nexen and its subsidiaries
Nexen and its subsidiaries
collectively, the Common Shares and the Preferred Shares

the Canadian National Instrument 51-101 “Standards of Disclosure of Oil and Gas
Activities” of the Canadian Securities Administrators

New York Stock Exchange

Overseas Oil and Gas Corporation, Ltd., a company incorporated in Bermuda with
limited liability, a direct wholly owned subsidiary of CNOOC, the sole shareholder of
CNOOC (BVI), and a shareholder of the Company directly holding five Shares of the
Company in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date

in respect of Common Shares, a dividend not in excess of C$0.05 per Common Share
per quarter consistent with Nexen’s current practice (including with respect to timing),
and in respect of the Preferred Shares, regular quarterly dividends payable on the
Preferred Shares in accordance with the terms of such Preferred Shares, as set out in
Nexen’s Constating Documents

-4 -
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DEFINITIONS

“Plan of Arrangement”

“PRC”

“Preferred Shareholder

Resolution”

“Preferred Shares”

“PRMS”

“Proposed Acquisition”

“Purchaser”
“RMB”

“Ryder Scott”
“SEC”

“SFO”
“Share(s)”
“Shareholder(s)”

“SPE”

the plan of arrangement, substantially in the form set out in Schedule A to the
Arrangement Agreement and any amendments or variations thereto

the People’s Republic of China, excluding for the purpose of this circular, Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan

the special resolution approving the Plan of Arrangement considered by the holders of
Preferred Shares at the Nexen company meeting

the second series of preferred shares in the capital of Nexen designated as “Cumulative
Redeemable Class A Rate Reset Preferred Shares, Series 2, as constituted on the date of
the Arrangement Agreement

the Petroleum Resources Management System published by the Society of Petroleum
Engineers, American Association of Petroleum Geologists, World Petroleum Council
and the SPEE in March 2007 as amended from time to time

the proposed acquisition of all the Common Shares and, as the proposed acquisition has
been approved by more than two-thirds of the votes cast by the holders of the Preferred
Shares as one class, the Preferred Shares, by the Purchaser in accordance with the
Arrangement Agreement

CNOOC Canada Holding Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

the lawful currency of the PRC

Ryder Scott Company L.P.

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
ordinary share(s) of HK$ 0.02 each in the share capital of the Company

registered holder(s) of the Share(s)

the Society of Petroleum Engineers

-5-
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DEFINITIONS
“SPEE” the Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers
“TSX” Toronto Stock Exchange
“US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of United States of America
“2011 AIF” Annual Information Form of Nexen for the year ended 31 December 2011

The estimates of contingent recoverable resource in this circular reflect Nexen’s low, best, and high estimates. A “best
estimate” is the estimate of the quantity of resources that will actually be recovered. It is equally likely that the actual
quantities recovered will be greater or less than the best estimate. Those resources that fall within the best estimate
have a 50% confidence level that the actual quantities recovered will equal or exceed the estimate. The ‘low estimate’
and ‘high estimate’ are considered to be conservative and optimistic estimates of resources with 90% and 10%
confidence, respectively. Contingent resources are quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be
potentially recoverable from known accumulations using established technology or technology under development,
but which are not currently considered to be commercially recoverable due to one or more contingencies.
Contingencies on resources may include, but are not limited to, factors such as economic, legal, environmental,
political and regulatory matters or a lack of markets. Specific contingencies precluding these contingent resources
being classified as reserves include but are not limited to: future drilling program results, drilling and completions
optimization, stakeholder and regulatory approval of future drilling and infrastructure plans, access to required
infrastructure, economic fiscal terms, a lower level of delineation, the absence of regulatory approvals, detailed design
estimates and near-term development plans, and general uncertainties associated with this early stage of evaluation.
There is no certainty that it will be commercially viable to produce any portion of the resources.

For the purpose of illustration only, unless otherwise stated, in this circular, (i) the amounts denominated in C$ have
been translated into HK$ at the exchange rate of C$1.00 to HK$7.66; and (ii) the amounts denominated in US$ have
been translated into HK$ at the exchange rate of US$1.00 to HK$7.76, both being the exchange rates prevailing at the
market closing on 20 July 2012. Such translations should not be construed as a representation that the relevant
amounts have been, could have been, or could be converted at that or any other rate or at all.

Conversions of gas volumes to boe in this circular were made on the basis of 1 boe to 6 mcf of natural gas. A boe
conversion ratio of 6 mcf:1 bbl is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the
burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. Disclosure provided herein in respect of boes
may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation.

-6-
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GLOSSARY

This glossary of technical terms contains terms used in this circular in connection with the Enlarged Group. As such,
these terms and their meanings may not correspond to standard industry meaning or usage of these terms.

“/d” per day

“AECO” natural gas storage facility located in Alberta
“bbl” barrel

“boe” barrels-of-oil-equivalent

“Brent” Dated Brent

“mboe” thousand barrels-of-oil equivalent
“mcf” thousand cubic feet

“mmboe” million barrels-of-oil equivalent
“mmbtu” million British thermal units
“NGL” natural gas liquid

“NYMEX” New York Mercantile Exchange
“PSC(tm)” Premium Synthetic Crude(tm)
“WTI” West Texas Intermediate

“% per cent

-7 -
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability under the Companies Ordinance)
(Stock Code: 00883)

Board of Directors Registered office
65th Floor, Bank of China Tower
Executive Directors 1 Garden Road
Li Fanrong Hong Kong
Wu Guangqi

Non-executive Directors
Wang Yilin (Chairman)
Yang Hua (Vice Chairman)
Zhou Shouwei

Wu Zhenfang

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chiu Sung Hong

Lawrence J. Lau

Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius

Wang Tao

20 December 2012
To the Shareholders
Dear Sir or Madam,

MAJOR TRANSACTION
IN RELATION TO THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF NEXEN

INTRODUCTION

Reference is made to the Announcement in relation to the Proposed Acquisition. On 23 July 2012, Canada local time

(23 July 2012, Hong Kong time), the Company, the Purchaser and Nexen entered into the Arrangement Agreement in
relation to the Proposed Acquisition by the Company (through its wholly-owned subsidiary, the Purchaser) of Nexen

Shares pursuant to a Plan of Arrangement under the CBCA.

As further announced by the Company on 21 September 2012 that, on 20 September 2012 (Canada local time), the
Court has granted the Final Order which approved the Plan of Arrangement pursuant to CBCA. The Final Order was
granted following a meeting of

14
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

Nexen’s shareholders on the same day at which the Plan of Arrangement was approved by approximately 99% of the
votes cast by the holders of the Common Shares. As approximately 87% of the votes cast by the holders of Preferred
Shares also approved the Plan of Arrangement, the Plan of Arrangement will also include the Preferred Shares.

Nexen is listed on the TSX and the NYSE. Upon completion of the Proposed Acquisition, Nexen will become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

As one of the applicable percentage ratios calculated under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules in respect of the Proposed
Acquisition exceeds 25% but is less than 100%, the Proposed Acquisition will constitute a major transaction of the
Company for the purposes of, and is subject to, the notification, publication and shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

As no Shareholder of the Company is required to abstain from voting if the Company were to convene a general
meeting for approving the Proposed Acquisition, and as the Company has obtained a written approval of the Proposed
Acquisition from the Controlling Shareholder, which directly held approximately 64.45% of the issued and
outstanding Shares as at the date of the Announcement, pursuant to Rule 14.44 of the Listing Rules, the Company is
not required to convene a general meeting for approving the Proposed Acquisition.
The purpose of this circular is to provide you with, among other things, (i) further information in respect of the
Proposed Acquisition; (ii) financial and other information of the Group; (iii) unaudited pro forma financial
information of the Enlarged Group; (iv) financial and reserves information of Nexen; and (v) other information as
required under the Listing Rules.
THE ARRANGEMENT AGREEMENT
Date
23 July 2012, Canada local time (23 July 2012 Hong Kong time)
Parties

(i) the Company

(i1) the Purchaser

(iii)Nexen

The Company confirms that, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all
reasonable enquiries, as at the date of the Announcement, Nexen and its ultimate beneficial owners are third parties

independent of the Company and are not connected persons of the Company or its subsidiaries or their respective
associates.

16
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

Shares to be acquired

Pursuant to the Arrangement Agreement, the Company will (through its wholly-owned subsidiary, the Purchaser)
acquire all of the Common Shares, and as the Preferred Shareholder Resolution has been passed, all of the Preferred
Shares, through a Plan of Arrangement under the CBCA.

Consideration

The aggregate value of the Consideration of the Proposed Acquisition is approximately US$15.1 billion
(approximately HK$117.2 billion), and is to be payable in cash. The Consideration is related to acquisition of
common and preferred shares and settlement of share options of Nexen. The indebtedness of Nexen as at the date of
the Announcement of approximately US$4.3 billion (approximately HK$33.6 billion) will remain outstanding. The
Purchaser shall, immediately prior to the sending by Nexen of the Articles of Arrangement to the director appointed
pursuant to Section 260 of the CBCA, provide the depositary with sufficient funds to be held in escrow to satisfy (i)
the aggregate Consideration per Common Share as provided in the Plan of Arrangement; and (ii) as the Preferred
Shareholder Resolution has been passed, the aggregate Consideration per Preferred Share.

If, on or after the date of the Arrangement Agreement, Nexen sets a record date for any dividend or other distribution
on Nexen Shares (other than certain Permitted Dividends) that is prior to the Effective Time or Nexen pays any
dividend or other distribution on Nexen Shares (other than certain Permitted Dividends) prior to the Effective Time:
(1) to the extent that the amount of such dividends or distributions per Nexen Share do not exceed the applicable
Consideration per Nexen Share, the applicable Consideration per Nexen Share shall be reduced by the amount of such
dividends or distributions; and (ii) to the extent that the amount of such dividends or distributions per Nexen Share
exceeds the applicable Consideration per Nexen Share, such excess amount shall be placed in escrow for the account
of the Purchaser or another person designated by the Purchaser.

Basis of the Consideration

The Consideration of the Proposed Acquisition was determined after arm’s length negotiations between the Company
and Nexen and with reference to recent market trading prices of the Common Shares and the Company’s view of the
value of the assets and business of Nexen. The Consideration price of US$27.50 per Common Share represents a
premium of 61% relative to the closing price of the Common Shares on the NYSE on 20 July 2012 and a premium of
66% relative to the volume weighted average price of the Common Shares over the 20 trading days ended 20 July
2012.

Employees
Unless otherwise agreed in writing between the parties, each of the Company and the Purchaser has covenanted and

agreed that Nexen Employees shall be provided with compensation not less than, and benefits that are, in the
aggregate, no less favorable than, those provided to such Nexen Employees immediately prior to the Effective Time.

-10 -
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

Each of the Company and the Purchaser has covenanted and agreed to honor and comply in all material respects with
the terms of all the existing employment agreements, change of control agreements and severance obligations of
Nexen Group and all obligations of Nexen Group under any employee plans.

Each of the Company and the Purchaser has further covenanted and agreed to cause Nexen to allocate and pay out to
Nexen Employees bonus amounts in respect of the calendar year ending 31 December 2012 in accordance with
Nexen’s customary year-end bonus practices consistently applied in accordance with prior years as determined by
Nexen Board.

Each of the Company and the Purchaser has agreed and acknowledged that Nexen shall institute a special transition
bonus program, and subject to completion of the Arrangement, each of the Company and the Purchaser has
covenanted and agreed to cause Nexen to allocate and pay out to Nexen Employees bonus amounts pursuant to the
terms of such bonus program as determined by Nexen Board.

The above terms shall not apply to any Nexen Employee who is covered by a Collective Agreement and instead, the
terms and conditions of employment of each such Nexen Employee following the Effective Time shall be governed by
the terms of the applicable Collective Agreement.

Guarantee

The Company has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed in favour of Nexen the due and punctual performance
by the Purchaser of the Purchaser’s obligations under the Arrangement Agreement.

Regulatory Approvals

Completion of the Proposed Acquisition is subject to receipt of applicable governmental and regulatory approvals by
the relevant authorities in, among others, Canada, the European Union, the United States and the People’s Republic of
China. As soon as reasonably practicable after the date of the Arrangement Agreement, each party, or where
appropriate, the parties jointly, shall identify any such approvals necessary to complete the Arrangement and make all
notifications, filings, applications and submissions with governmental entities required or advisable.

-11 -
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

Conditions

Mutual Conditions

The parties to the Arrangement Agreement are not required to complete the Arrangement unless each of the following
Conditions, summarized below, is satisfied on or prior to the Effective Time, which Conditions may only be waived,

in whole or in part, by the mutual consent of each of the parties:

(a) the Arrangement Resolution has been approved and adopted by the holders of Common Shares at the special
meeting in accordance with the Interim Order;

(b)the Interim Order and the Final Order have each been obtained on terms consistent with the Arrangement
Agreement;

(c)each of the key regulatory approvals (as set forth in the Arrangement Agreement) has been made, given or
obtained on terms acceptable to Nexen, the Company and the Purchaser, each acting reasonably, and in the case of
the Company and the Purchaser subject to compliance with their respective covenants in respect of the regulatory

approvals and each such key regulatory approval is in force and has not been modified;

(d)no law is in effect that makes the consummation of the Arrangement illegal or otherwise prohibits or enjoins
Nexen, the Company or the Purchaser from consummating the Arrangement;

(e)the Articles of Arrangement to be filed under the CBCA in accordance with the Arrangement Agreement shall be
in a form and content satisfactory to Nexen and the Purchaser, each acting reasonably; and

(f)absence of certain actions or proceedings (whether by a governmental entity or any other person).
Additional Conditions to the Obligations of the Purchaser

The Purchaser is not required to complete the Arrangement unless each of the following Conditions, summarized
below, is satisfied on or before the Effective Time:

(a)the representations and warranties of Nexen set forth in the Arrangement Agreement being true and correct as of
the date of the Arrangement Agreement and at the Effective Time, subject, in most cases, to a material adverse

effect standard;

(b) material compliance by Nexen with each of its covenants in the Arrangement Agreement;

-12 -
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(c)receipt of all regulatory approvals (other than key regulatory approvals) and all other third party consents, waivers
and the similar approvals, subject to the standards and exceptions set forth in the Arrangement Agreement;

(d)rights of dissent have not been exercised with respect to more than 5% of the issued and outstanding Common
Shares; and

(e) there shall not have been or occurred a material adverse effect on Nexen.
Additional Conditions to the Obligations of Nexen

Nexen is not required to complete the Arrangement unless each of the following Conditions, summarized below, is
satisfied on or before the Effective Time:

(a)the representations and warranties of the Company and the Purchaser set forth in the Arrangement Agreement
being true and correct as of the date of Arrangement Agreement and the Effective Time, subject, in most cases, to
a material adverse effect standard; and

(b)material compliance by the Company and the Purchaser with each of its covenants in the Arrangement
Agreement.

Effecting the Plan of Arrangement

The Proposed Acquisition will be effected by way of a Plan of Arrangement. The Plan of Arrangement involves a
Court-supervised process and will be effected through the proceedings under the CBCA.

As announced by the Company on 21 September 2012 that, on 20 September 2012 (Canada local time), the Court has
granted the Final Order which approved the Plan of Arrangement pursuant to CBCA. The Final Order was granted
following a meeting of Nexen’s shareholders on the same day at which the Plan of Arrangement was approved by
approximately 99% of the votes cast by the holders of the Common Shares. As approximately 87% of the votes cast
by the holders of Preferred Shares also approved the Plan of Arrangement, the Plan of Arrangement will also include
the Preferred Shares.

Termination Date
Either the Company, the Purchaser or Nexen may terminate the Arrangement Agreement, among other events, if the

Arrangement does not occur by 31 January 2013, subject, if certain regulatory approvals are not received, to any
party’s right to extend such date for successive periods of 15 days (but not in excess of 75 business days in the

aggregate).

-13-
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Non-Solicitation and Termination Fee

The Arrangement Agreement includes a non-solicitation covenant on the part of Nexen, subject to customary
“fiduciary out” provisions that entitle Nexen to consider and accept an acquisition proposal that is a superior proposal,
provided that the Purchaser has a right to match any superior proposal.

If the Arrangement Agreement is terminated under certain circumstances, including if Nexen enters into an agreement
with respect to a superior proposal or if the Nexen Board changes, withdraws or modifies its recommendation with
respect to the Proposed Acquisition, Nexen shall pay the Purchaser a termination fee in the amount of US$425
million.

Reverse Termination Fee

If the Arrangement Agreement is terminated solely as a result of the PRC approvals having not been obtained, the
Purchaser shall pay Nexen a reverse termination fee in the amount of US$425 million.

INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY AND THE PURCHASER

The Group is China’s largest producer of offshore crude oil and natural gas and one of the largest independent oil and
gas exploration and production companies in the world. The Group mainly engages in exploration, development,
production and sales of oil and natural gas. The Group’s core operation areas are Bohai, Western South China Sea,
Eastern South China Sea and East China Sea in offshore China. In overseas, the Group has oil and gas assets in Asia,
Africa, North America, South America and Oceania. As of 31 December 2011, the Group owned net proved reserves
of approximately 3.19 billion boe, and its average daily net production was 909,000 boe. The Group had 5,377
employees and total assets of approximately RMB384.26 billion.

The Purchaser is a limited liability company incorporated in Canada and is a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. The principal business activity of the Purchaser is investment holding.

-14 -
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INFORMATION OF NEXEN AND ITS PETROLEUM ASSETS
Information of Nexen

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the following
sets out the information relating to Nexen.

Nexen is an independent Canadian-based global energy company, listed on the TSX and the NYSE under the symbol
NXY. Nexen adds value for shareholders through successful full-cycle oil and gas exploration and development, as
well as leadership in ethics, integrity, governance and environmental stewardship.

Nexen currently focuses on three core businesses:

Conventional Oil & Gas: Nexen has major positions in three of the world’s most significant conventional basins — the
UK North Sea, Offshore West Africa and the deep-water Gulf of Mexico. It is the second largest oil producer in the
UK North Sea.

Oil Sands: Nexen has an interest in more than 625,000 undeveloped acres (gross) in the Athabasca oil sands region,
with net proved plus probable reserves of 1,350 million barrels and approximately 4 billion barrels of contingent
recoverable oil sands resource. Nexen is a 65% owner and the operator of Long Lake, an integrated steam assisted
gravity drainage (SAGD) and upgrading operation. Nexen also has a 7.23% interest in the Syncrude Canada oil sands
mining and upgrading facility.

Shale Gas: Shale gas is expected to be a source of growth for Nexen in the future. With 300,000 acres (gross) of
shale gas lands in the Horn River, Cordova and Liard basins in northeastern British Columbia, it has enough
resources to significantly increase Nexen’s proved reserves. Nexen has a joint venture shale gas exploration project in
Poland and is exploring for shale gas in Colombia.

Nexen had average production of 207 mboe/d (after royalties) in the second quarter of 2012. In accordance with the
SEC rules, Nexen had 900 mmboe of proved reserves and 1,122 mmboe of probable reserves as of 31 December 2011.
In addition, Nexen had best estimate contingent resources of 5.6 billion boe in accordance with NI 51-101,
predominately in the Canadian oil sands, as of 31 December 2011.
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Set out below are the net profits (both before and after taxation and extraordinary items) of Nexen, prepared under
IFRS, for the two financial years immediately preceding the date of the Announcement:

For the financial year ended 31 December

2011 2010
HK$ HKS$
C$ Equivalent C$ Equivalent
million million million million
Net profits before taxation and extraordinary items 1,723 13,193 1,130 8,652
Net profits after taxation and extraordinary items 697 5,337 1,127 8,629

As at 31 December 2011, the shareholders’ equity of Nexen was approximately C$8,373 million (approximately
HK$64,112 million).

Nexen is in material compliance with all host country laws, regulations and permits. Please refer to the 2011 AIF as
set out in Appendix IV to this circular for the detailed information on the petroleum assets of Nexen.

Risks Relating to the Operations of Nexen

Nexen’s operations are exposed to various risks, some of which are common to other operations in the oil and gas
industry and some of which are unique to Nexen’s operations. See the section entitled “Risk Factors” in the 2011 AIF of
Nexen as set out in Appendix IV to this circular.

Long Term Prospects of Nexen

Nexen has several development and appraisal projects underway, and a large resource base to support long-term
growth which is described in the 2011 AIF as set out in Appendix IV to this circular. Since then, on 2 April 2012,
Nexen announced completion of the evaluation of its drilling success on the northeast fault block of the Appomattox
structure. Nexen has demonstrated contingent recoverable resource in the northeast block of approximately 215
mmboe (50 mmboe net to Nexen), with a range of 120 to 370 mmboe (25 to 90 mmboe net to Nexen) of light oil
(based on NI 51-101). Nexen holds a 20% interest in Appomattox and a 25% interest in Vicksburg and various other
blocks in the area; Shell Gulf of Mexico Inc. (“Shell”) holds the remaining interest and is operator.

Nexen and operator Shell plan to conduct additional exploration and appraisal activity in the Appomattox area during

2012 and extending into 2013. The current discovered resource has hub potential with production capacity of more
than 100,000 barrels of oil equivalent per day. Nexen’s Appomattox area discoveries enhances Nexen resource base at
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Appomattox and complement its previous exploration successes at Rochelle, West Rochelle and Golden Eagle in the
North Sea, Knotty Head in the Gulf of Mexico and Owowo South offshore West Africa.

Upon the completion of the Proposed Acquisition, the Company will implement and enhance Nexen’s current planned
capital expenditure program, thereby investing significant capital in Canada and in Nexen’s other international assets.
The Company will bring greater financial capacity to better realize the full potential of Nexen’s significant resource
base.

REASONS FOR THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION

The Group has been a significant investor in Canada since 2005, with total capital investment of C$2.8 billion. These
investments include a stake in MEG Energy Inc. (www.megenergy.com), OPTI Canada Inc. (Nexen’s partners in the
Long Lake SAGD and Upgrader) and a 60% interest in Northern Cross (Yukon) Limited
(www.northerncrossyukon.ca).

The acquisition of Nexen will expand the Group’s overseas businesses and resource base in order to deliver long-term,
sustainable growth. Nexen will complement the Group’s large offshore production footprint in China and extends the
Group’s global presence with a high-quality asset base in many of the world’s most significant producing regions —
including Western Canada, the U.K. North Sea, the Gulf of Mexico and offshore Nigeria — focused on conventional oil
and gas, oil sands and shale gas. In addition, Nexen management’s current mandate will be expanded to include all of
the Group’s North American and Caribbean assets.

Taking into account the benefits of the Proposed Acquisition, the Board is of the view that the terms of the Proposed
Acquisition are fair and reasonable and the Proposed Acquisition is in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

FINANCIAL EFFECT OF THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION ON THE GROUP

Upon completion, Nexen will become a subsidiary of the Company and their results will be consolidated with that of
the Group. In light of the business potential of Nexen and the future prospect of the oil and gas industry, the Directors
are of the view that the Proposed Acquisition would widen the earnings base of the Group.

Set out in Appendix III to this circular is the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group which
illustrates the financial effect of the Proposed Acquisition on the assets and liabilities of the Group assuming
completion had taken place on 30 June 2012. The unaudited pro forma financial information has been prepared based
on the assumption that the Company will obtain and utilise external banking facility of US$6 billion (or approximately
RMB37,949 million) and receive gross cash proceeds of approximately RMB37,691 million from corporate wealth
management products and RMB17,809 million from time deposits with maturity over three months, which will mature
on or before the completion of the Proposed Acquisition, to satisfy the cash consideration for the Proposed
Acquisition. Based on the unaudited pro forma financial information in Appendix III to this circular, the total assets of
the Group would increase from
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approximately RMB414.2 billion to approximately RMB550.0 billion; and its total liabilities would increase from
approximately RMB130.0 billion to approximately RMB266.2 billion, as a result of the Proposed Acquisition.
Shareholders should note that the earnings contribution from Nexen after completion will depend on the future
performance of Nexen, and the actual effect of the Proposed Acquisition on the assets and liabilities of the Group will
depend on the financial position of Nexen as at the date of completion, which cannot be quantified as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

FINANCIAL AND TRADING PROSPECT OF THE ENLARGED GROUP

The Group is one of the largest independent oil and gas exploration and production companies in the world with oil
and gas assets in Asia, Africa, North America, South America and Oceania. In the first half of this year, the global
economic situation was critical, and China’s economic growth encountered challenges. Under this environment, the
Group actively sought opportunities amidst crisis, and realized steady growth in its different areas of business. The
Group overcame the difficulties including a small decline in production and escalating costs and maintained strong
profitability. The net profit of the Group of the first half of this year reached RMB31.87 billion and once again
delivered satisfactory results for the Shareholders.

Since the beginning of the year, the Company has achieved satisfactory development in its overseas business, with
overseas oil and gas production increasing significantly. The acquisition of one-third working interest in each of
Exploration Area of 1, 2 and 3A in Uganda was also completed on 21 February 2012. The Proposed Acquisition was
consistent with the Company’s established value-driven merger and acquisition strategy. The Proposed Acquisition
will not only increase the net proved reserves of the Company by around 30% and its net production by around 20%,
but also bring to the Company invaluable experience in the area of unconventional oil and gas resources such as oil
sands and shale gas, as well as a high-quality management team and employees.

The Proposed Acquisition will enhance the Company’s presence in Canada, Nigeria and the Gulf of Mexico, adds a
significant presence in the U.K. North Sea and diversifies the Company’s growth platform. On 8 December 2012, the
Proposed Acquisition was approved by Canada’s Minister of Industry under the Investment Canada Act. In connection
with the Proposed Acquisition and also to demonstrate its commitment to Canada and the Canadian oil and gas
industry, the Company has agreed to carry out a number of commitments, including to establish Calgary as the head
office of its North and Central American operations, responsible for approximately US$8 billion of additional assets;
retain Nexen’s current management team and employees; invest significant capital as long-term commitment to the
development of oil and gas resources in Canada and maintain and enhance community and social commitments. The
Company will also list its Shares on the TSX subject to regulatory approvals.

Upon the closing of the Proposed Acquisition, the Company will become a truly global oil and gas exploration and
production company with a balanced resources portfolio and important presences in the world’s major oil and gas
production areas. At the same time, the Group will be able to acquire the world-class management team and
employees from Nexen
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and establish a leading international development platform. The Directors are confident that the Proposed Acquisition
will benefit the Group’s long term sustainable growth and create long term value for the Shareholders.

IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSED ACQUISITION UNDER THE LISTING RULES

As one of the applicable percentage ratios calculated under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules in respect of the Proposed
Acquisition exceeds 25% but is less than 100%, the Proposed Acquisition will constitute a major transaction of the
Company for the purposes of, and is subject to the notification, publication and shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

As no Shareholder of the Company is required to abstain from voting if the Company were to convene a general
meeting for approving the Proposed Acquisition, and as the Company has obtained a written approval of the Proposed
Acquisition from the Controlling Shareholder, which directly held approximately 64.45% of the issued and
outstanding shares of the Company as at the date of the Announcement, pursuant to Rule 14.44 of the Listing Rules,
the Company is not required to convene a general meeting for approving the Proposed Acquisition.

WAIVERS FROM STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH THE LISTING RULES
Waiver from the Requirement to Prepare an Accountants’ Report on Nexen

Pursuant to Rule 14.67(6)(a)(i) of the Listing Rules, the Company is required to include in this circular an accountants’
report on Nexen prepared in accordance with Chapter 4 of the Listing Rules. The accountants’ report for the purpose of
the Proposed Acquisition is supposed to include the financial information of Nexen for each of the three financial

years ended 31 December 2011 and interim accounts for a period ended six months or less from the date of this
circular prepared using accounting policies which should be materially consistent with the Company.

Nexen is listed on the TSX and the NYSE. The consolidated financial statements of Nexen for each of the two
financial years ended 31 December 2010 were prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and have been made
publicly available. These financial statements have been audited by Nexen’s auditor, Deloitte Canada in accordance
with Canadian GAAS and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Deloitte Canada is a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants and a registered firm with the
Canadian Public Accountability Board.

As a company listed on the TSX, Nexen is also required to file quarterly condensed financial statements in accordance
with standards established by the CICA for a review of interim financial statements by an entity’s auditor.
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In 2010, the Handbook of the CICA was revised to incorporate IFRS and require Canadian publicly accountable
enterprises to apply such accounting standards effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.
Nexen consequently prepared its financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 in accordance
with IFRS, together with a restatement of the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 in
accordance with IFRS.

Complying with the strict requirements of Rule 14.67(6)(a)(i) of the Listing Rules in having to produce an accountants’
report on Nexen in this circular would create practical difficulties, and require Nexen to undertake a considerable
amount of work, which would have significant timing, resource and cost implications for the parties involved.

In replacement of an accountants’ report on Nexen, the following disclosure has been included in this circular:

(a) the audited financial information for the year ended 31 December 2010 (with2009 comparative financial
statements) prepared under Canadian GAAP (the “Nexen 2010 Canadian GAAP Accounts”) extracted from the
2010 annual report of Nexen as set out in the section entitled “Appendix II — Financial Information of Nexen Group —
Published Financial Information of Nexen Group for Each of the Three Years Ended 31 December 2009, 2010
and 2011 and Six Months Ended 30 June 2012”;

(b) the audited financial information for the year ended 31 December 2011 (with 2010 comparative financial
statements) (the “Nexen 2011 IFRS Accounts”) and the unaudited (but reviewed) financial information for the six
months ended 30 June 2012 prepared under IFRS extracted from the 2011 annual report and the second quarter
2012 report of Nexen, respectively, as set out in the section entitled “Appendix II — Financial Information of Nexen
Group — Published Financial Information of Nexen Group for Each of the Three Years Ended 31 December 2009,
2010 and 2011 and Six Months Ended 30 June 2012”;

(c)a summary of the material differences between the accounting policies adopted by Nexen (Canadian GAAP or
IFRS) and the accounting policies adopted by the Company (IFRS and HKFRS), including a line-by-line
reconciliation of the consolidated statements of income and consolidated balance sheets, addressing the material
differences, other than presentational differences, which would have a significant effect on Nexen’s financial
statements in (a) and (b) above had they been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies presently
adopted by the Company and reported on by Deloitte Hong Kong in accordance with Hong Kong Standard of
Assurance Engagements 3000, as set out in the section entitled “Appendix II — Financial Information of Nexen
Group — Differences between Accounting Policies Adopted by the Company (IFRS and HKFRS) and Nexen
(Canadian GAAP or IFRS)”; and

(d) supplemental financial information of Nexen Group for the three years ended 31 December 2011 and six months
ended 30 June 2012, which is required for an accountants’ report under the Listing Rules but not disclosed in the
published
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accounts of Nexen excluding the information required under Rule 4.08(3) of the Listing Rules, as set out in the section
entitled “Appendix II — Financial Information of Nexen Group — Supplemental Financial Information of Nexen Group”.

The Directors consider that the published financial disclosure concerning Nexen reproduced in this circular, when
taken together with the abovementioned additional financial disclosure, will afford the Shareholders with all material
information necessary to assess the financial performance of Nexen throughout the period presented, such information
being broadly commensurate in all material respects to the disclosure that would otherwise have been provided if an
accountants’ report on Nexen had been produced under Rule 14.67(6)(a)(i). As such, the Company has applied to the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and was granted a waiver from strict compliance with Rule 14.67(6)(a)(i) of the Listing
Rules such that the Company is not required to include an accountants’ report on Nexen in this circular.

Waivers from the Requirement to Prepare a Competent Person’s Report and a Valuation Report on the Petroleum
Assets of Nexen

Pursuant to Rule 18.09(2) of the Listing Rules, the circular is required to include a Competent Person’s Report on the
petroleum assets of Nexen.

As a company listed on the TSX and the NYSE, Nexen has disclosed its reserves information in accordance with NI
51-101 in its annual information forms and annual reports. Nexen also voluntarily reports on reserves under the
requirements of the SEC as supplementary information in order to provide direct comparability to the reserves
statements of its U.S. peer group and improve access to U.S. capital markets.

Disclosures under NI 51-101 are based upon reserve and resource estimates prepared in accordance with the standards
of the COGEH. COGEH is generally based upon the PRMS definition and classification framework system. The
standards are interpreted and applied similarly by reserves evaluators. Accordingly, there are generally no material
differences between reserve or resource estimates prepared under PRMS and estimates prepared under NI 51-101
(COGEH) (under an equivalent price and cost assumption). In addition, the modifications to the PRMS under Chapter
18 of the Listing Rules and disclosure requirements are materially consistent with the NI 51-101 disclosure
requirements.

Nexen has received an exemption from the NI 51-101 requirements to have its reserves estimates independently
assessed. The estimates of reserves and future net revenue disclosed by Nexen were based on its internal evaluations.
Nexen has put in place an internal evaluation system to ensure that the reliability of the internally generated estimates
of reserves and future net revenue is commensurate with that generated by an independent qualified reserves
evaluator. The IQRE of Nexen is responsible for the reserves data and related disclosures and assessing whether the
reserves estimates and related disclosures have been prepared in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements,
Canadian and SEC reserves regulations and related reporting requirements. The IQRE is a professional engineer and
meets all professional and statutory requirements in regards to experience, education and professional membership
associated with the role. With over 30 years of experience, the
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IQRE has an in-depth knowledge of reserves estimation techniques and professional guidelines. As set out in
Appendix V to the circular, the IQRE has the relevant professional qualifications and experience to act as a Competent
Person under Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules.

Nexen has adopted a corporate policy that prescribes the procedures and standards to be followed in the evaluation of
its reserves. This policy is reviewed and amended annually as required to conform to changes in law or industry
accepted evaluation practices. Due to the extent and expertise of the internal reserves evaluation resources, the staff’s
familiarity with the properties of Nexen, and the controls applied to the evaluation process, the reliability of the
internally generated estimates of reserves and future net revenue are not materially less than would be generated by an
independent qualified reserves evaluator.

Notwithstanding the above mentioned internal evaluation procedure and the exemption from the NI 51-101
requirements to have its reserves estimates independently assessed, the policy of the Nexen is to have at least 80% of
its NI 51-101 reserves estimates either evaluated or audited annually by the Independent Reserves Evaluators using
applicable NI 51-101 requirements.

Given that reserves estimates are based on a large number of assumptions, interpretations and judgments, differences
frequently arise between the estimates prepared by different qualified estimators. When the initial estimate of proved
reserves on the portfolio of properties differs by greater than 10%, Nexen works with the Independent Reserves
Evaluators to reconcile the difference to within 10%. Estimates pertaining to individual properties within the portfolio
may differ by more than 10%, either positively or negatively. Nexen does not attempt to resolve each property to
within 10% as it would be time and cost prohibitive given the number of wells in which Nexen has an interest. Nexen
follows a similar process in connection with its probable reserves estimates whereby Nexen reconciles any differences
on a proved plus probable basis to be within 10%.

The estimates of the Independent Reserves Evaluators are prepared using standard geological and engineering
methods generally accepted by the petroleum industry and the reserves principles, definitions and standards required
by NI 51-101 and the COGEH. Generally recognized methods for estimating reserves include volumetric calculations,
material balance techniques, production and pressure decline curve analysis, analogy with similar reservoirs and
reservoir simulation. The method or combination of methods used is based on the professional judgment and
experience of the Independent Reserves Evaluators. In preparing their estimates, the Independent Reserves Evaluators
obtain information from Nexen with respect to property interests, production from such properties, current costs of
operations, expected future development and abandonment costs, current prices for production, agreements relating to
current and future operations and sale of production, and various other information and data. They may rely on the
information without independent verification. However, if in the course of their evaluation they question the validity
or sufficiency of any information, Nexen requests that they not rely on such information until they satisfactorily
resolve their questions or independently verify such information.
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The Independent Reserves Evaluators do not undertake site visits. Site visits are part of the regular job duties for many
of Nexen’s qualified reserves evaluators. However, site visits by the Independent Reserves Evaluators are not
considered necessary or appropriate for the purpose of evaluating or auditing Nexen’s properties due to the following
reasons:

(i)unlike hard rock mining operations, oil and gas reserves are not generally accessible for physical inspection;

(ii))Nexen’s reserves are located in remote locations in four continents and site visits are prohibitively time consuming
and expensive; and

(iii)reserve evaluations are based on electronic data and reports and site visits do not provide any information that
would improve the quality of the reserve estimate.

The estimates of the reserves as disclosed in the 2011 AIF have been prepared by Nexen’s IQRE with regard to the
opinions of the Independent Reserves Evaluators. They have been substantiated by evidence that is supported by
analysis and takes into account information supplied to the Independent Reserves Evaluators. In aggregate, the
Independent Reserves Evaluators evaluated or audited 96% of the proved and 98% of the proved plus probable
reserves of Nexen as of 31 December 2011 as follows:

(i)Nexen engaged D&M to evaluate 100% of its proved and proved plus probable reserves in the UK North
Sea, Nigeria, and Canadian shale gas properties. D&M provided an opinion on 26 January 2012, as set out
in Appendix IV of this circular, that the proved and proved plus probable reserves for the reviewed
properties are reasonable because, in aggregate, they are within 10% of their estimates;

(ii)Nexen engaged McDaniel to evaluate approximately 100% of Nexen’s proved and proved plus probable reserves
for its in situ oil sands properties. McDaniel provided an opinion on 26 January 2012, as set out in Appendix IV of
this circular, that the proved and proved plus probable reserves for the reviewed properties are reasonable because,
in aggregate, they are within 10% of their estimates;

(iii)Nexen engaged McDaniel to audit 100% of its proved and proved plus probable reserves for its Syncrude interest.
McDaniel provided an opinion on 26 January 2012, as set out in Appendix IV of this circular, that the proved and
proved plus probable reserves estimates for the Syncrude property are reasonable because they expect it would be
within 10% of their own estimate were they to perform their own detailed evaluation of the property; and

(iv)Nexen engaged Ryder Scott to evaluate 94% of its proved and 97% of its proved plus probable US Gulf of
Mexico properties. Ryder Scott provided an opinion on 26 January 2012, as set out in Appendix IV of this
circular, that the proved and proved plus probable reserves for the reviewed properties are reasonable because, in
aggregate, they are within 10% of their estimates.
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Against this background, the Company has applied to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for a waiver from strict
compliance with Rule 18.09(2) of the Listing Rules in respect of preparation of a Competent Person’s Report on the
petroleum assets of Nexen on the following grounds:

(i)the petroleum assets of Nexen are extensive and are located in various countries around the world. The preparation
of a Competent Person’s Report for such assets would involve an extraordinary of time and costs, and would be
unduly burdensome. Nexen estimates that the preparation of a Competent Person’s Report in respect of its reserves
and resource estimates as of December 31, 2012 would take approximately 6 months and cost approximately US$2
million;

(ii)Nexen has reported reserves information as of 31 December 2011 in accordance with NI 51-101, which is in
broad agreement with PRMS. The estimates of reserves and future net revenue as of 31 December 2011 were
prepared in accordance with its strict internal evaluation procedures. Further, in aggregate the Independent
Reserves Evaluators evaluated or audited 96% of the proved and 98% of the proved plus probable reserves of
Nexen as of 31 December 2011. All these Independent Reserves Evaluators are firms with international names
and reputation and as set out in Appendix V to this circular, the primary technical persons of these firms
responsible for overseeing the estimate of reserves have the relevant professional qualifications and experience to
act as Competent Persons under Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules; and

(iii)as the Shareholders would not need to vote on the Proposed Acquisition and there is sufficient public information
in respect of the reserves of the Nexen, the benefit of disclosing the Competent Person’s Report in the circular is
disproportionate with the costs, time and efforts the Company would need to spend on the preparation of such
reports.

In replacement of a Competent Person’s Report, the following disclosure has been included in this circular:
(1) the 2011 AIF as set out in Appendix IV to this circular;

(i1) the opinion letters of the Independent Reserves Evaluators as set out in Appendix IV to this circular;

(iii)the qualifications and experience of the IQRE and the primary technical persons of D&M, McDaniel and Ryder
Scott responsible for overseeing the estimate of reserves of Nexen as set out in Appendix V to this circular;

(iv)details of information provided to the Independent Reserve Evaluators as set out in this section; and

(v) long term prospects of Nexen as set out in the section entitled “Letter from the Board — Information of Nexen and
Its Petroleum Assets — Long Term Prospects of Nexen”.
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The Company believes that the above disclosure is comparable to the disclosure in a Competent Person’s Report as
required under Rule 18.09(2) of the Listing Rules except for the disclosure of gross production profiles of the reserves
of Nexen and sensitivity analyses for oil and gas prices.

Gross production profiles of the reserves of Nexen are not disclosed in this circular as it is not the common practise
for a large oil and gas company like Nexen to disclose such gross production data. Nexen is a large and diversified
company with widely varying ownership interests in both operated and non-operated fields. Providing gross
production profiles (100% of field production profiles) would introduce large production numbers that cannot be
aggregated towards meaningful company data.

Further, this circular does not contain sensitivity analyses for oil and gas prices. Nexen provides NI 51-101 reserves
data, which is based upon forecast assumptions. Nexen also provides SEC reserves information based upon SEC
existing (constant) assumptions. Both of these analyses are vetted through internal due-diligence, including the effects
that pricing may have on project commitment and timing. With a large and diversified portfolio, running meaningful
sensitivities involve not only differences in price assumptions but also the corresponding changes to the business
decisions and development commitment assumptions involved under each price scenario. The time and resources
required to perform an accurate sensitivity analysis are prohibitively high. In addition, generally a sensitivity analysis
is more suitable for a junior issuer. It is less relevant for a company with a large and diverse asset base such as Nexen
because it is less sensitive to commodity price fluctuations than a junior issuer with few assets. For these reasons, the
Company considers that a sensitivity analysis is inappropriate and unnecessary for the Shareholders to assess the
Proposed Acquisition.

According to the Canadian Securities Law, in the event that there is any material change in the reserve information in
the 2011 AIF, Nexen would need to issue and file a news release and file a material change report discussing its
reasonable expectation as to how the material change has affected its reserve data and/or information disclosed in
public reports. Nexen has confirmed that it has not filed, nor anticipates filing, a material change report relating to the
reserves information in the 2011 AIF prior to the Latest Practicable Date.

Nexen monitors actual production results at least quarterly to assess whether they are consistent with the forecasts
used for the most recent reserves estimates. Nexen also reviews reserves changes generated by exploration,
development, acquisition and divestiture activities on an ongoing basis as well as changes to price and cost
assumptions and the legal and regulatory environment applicable to its operations. Quarterly, Nexen management
reviews preliminary estimates of potential reserves changes that may occur by year-end with regard to the above
factors stated. Nexen has further confirmed that in its most recent reserves review completed mid-November 2012,
with regard to the above factors stated, the expected changes are not material to its proved and proved plus probable
reserves since 31 December 2011.
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Taking into account of the above, the Company confirms that, as of the Latest Practicable Date, there has been no
material changes to the proved and probable reserves of Nexen as disclosed in the 2011 AIF since 31 December 2011.

Based on the above, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange has granted a wavier from strict compliance with Rule 18.09(2)
of the Listing Rules such that the Company is not required to include in the circular a Competent Person’s Report on
the petroleum assets of Nexen.

Pursuant to Listing Rule 18.09(3) of the Listing Rules, the circular is required to include a Valuation Report on the
petroleum assets of Nexen.

For the Proposed Acquisition, the target of the acquisition is the shares of Nexen, a publicly listed company, and not
specific assets, nor a privately owned asset with no readily available reference point for valuation. Nexen’s shares are
traded on the TSX and the NYSE which are well-developed and recognized stock exchanges with substantial market
capitalization and liquidity. The Company believes that the share trading prices and market capitalization of Nexen
serves as a reasonable reference in assessing Nexen’s fair market value. The Company used multiple methodologies in
determining the Consideration and offer price for the Proposed Acquisition, with a strong emphasis on Nexen’s share
price, liquidity and trading movement as well market-based analysis. The Company has performed various financial
analysis, including, but not limited to: (a) market-based analysis; (b) reserves and resources based analysis; and (c)
fundamental valuation analyses (e.g. discounted cash flow, metrics of comparable companies, precedent transactions
and premiums paid) in order to determine an appropriate offer price. As the Consideration for the Proposed
Acquisition was primarily based on the above approaches rather than an asset valuation approach, it would be unduly
burdensome and irrelevant for the Company to prepare a separate Valuation Report on the petroleum assets of Nexen.

Therefore, the Company has applied to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange has

granted a waiver from strict compliance with Rule 18.09(3) of the Listing Rules such that the Company is not required
to include a Valuation Report on the petroleum assets of Nexen.
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RECOMMENDATION OF THE BOARD

The Directors are of the opinion that the terms of the Arrangement Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Shareholders and potential investors should note that the Proposed Acquisition is subject to various Conditions which
may or may not be fulfilled. There is therefore no assurance that the Proposed Acquisition will proceed and, if it
proceeds, on what terms it may proceed. Shareholders and potential investors are reminded to exercise caution when
dealing in the Shares of the Company.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of the Board
CNOOC Limited

Wang Yilin

Chairman of the Board of Directors
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1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP FOR EACH OF THE THREE YEARS ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2009, 2010 AND 2011 AND THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

Financial information of the Group for each of the three years ended 31 December 2009, 2010 and 2011 and for the
six months ended 30 June 2012 is disclosed in the following documents which have been published on the websites of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (http://www.cnoocltd.com):
Interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2012 published on 31 August 2012 (Pages 8 to 36);
Annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 published on 12 April 2012 (pages 61 to 116);

Annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010 published on 7 April 2011 (pages 57 to 114);
and

Annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2009 published on 9 April 2010 (pages 49 to 104).

2. INDEBTEDNESS STATEMENT

As at the close of business on 31 October 2012, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of this indebtedness
statement prior to the printing of this circular, the Enlarged Group had the following outstanding borrowings:

Secured Guaranteed Unsecured Total
RMB RMB RMB RMB
million million million million
Bank loans 8,631 2,669 19,217 30,517
Long-term notes — 28,048 24,761 52,809
Subordinated debentures - - 2,900 2,900
8,631 30,717 46,878 86,226

The general bank loan of US$1,370 million (equivalent to RMB8,631 million) was secured by time deposits placed by
CNOOC China Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The specific borrowing of US$424 million (equivalent to RMB2,669 million) represented the Enlarged Group’s share
of utilised bank loans in Tangguh Liquified Natural Gas Project (the “Tangguh LNG Project”). The Company delivered
a guarantee in favour of Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd., which acts as the facility agent for and on behalf of various
international commercial banks under a commercial loan agreement in connection with the Tangguh LNG Project in
Indonesia. The Company guarantees the payment obligations of the trustee borrower under the subject loan agreement
and is subject to a maximum cap of
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approximately US$164.89 million. Together with the loan agreement dated 31 July 2006 with a maximum cap of
approximately US$487.86 million, the total maximum guarantee cap is US$652.75 million.

The long-term notes amounting to RMB?28,048 million are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the
Company.

Banking facilities

As at 31 October 2012, the banking facilities amounting to RMB116,543 million were granted to the Enlarged Group,
of which RMB17,618 million were utilised as follows:

(1) RMBS5,390 million of these facilities were utilised to support letter of credit;
(i1) RMB2,148 million of these facilities were utilised to support bank guarantee; and
(111))RMB10,080 million of these facilities were utilised to withdraw bank borrowings.
Financial lease

As at 31 October 2012, the Enlarged Group had an outstanding finance lease of approximately RMB497 million of
which RMB 106 million is repayable within the next five years.

Guarantees

On 6 August 2012, the Enlarged Group guaranteed a drilling rig sublease contract for approximately 180 days with
potential exposure of C$90 million (equivalent to RMB567 million). As at 31 October 2012, this contract had
approximately 135 days outstanding and C$67 million potential exposure amount remaining (equivalent to RMB422
million).

Contingencies

(a)On 8 January 2006, a subsidiary of the Company signed a definitive agreement with South Atlantic Petroleum
Limited (“SAPETRO”) to acquire a 45% working interest in the Offshore Oil Mining Lease 130 (“OML130”) in
Nigeria (the “OML130 Transaction”) and the OML130 Transaction was completed on 20 April 2006.

In 2007, a local tax office in Nigeria (the “Nigerian Local Tax Office”) conducted a tax audit on SAPETRO. According
to the preliminary tax audit results, the Nigerian Local Tax Office has raised a disagreement with the tax filings made
for the OML130 Transaction.

The tax audit assessment made by the Nigerian Local Tax Office has been contested by the Company in accordance
with Nigerian laws. The Company then filed a suit in the Nigerian Federal High Court. In March 2011, the Nigeria
Federal High Court delivered a binding judgement in favour of the Company, agreeing that the Company is not
subject to Value Added Tax for the OML130 Transaction. The judgement was appealed
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by counterparties. After seeking legal advice, the Company’s management believes that the Company has reasonable
grounds in defending for such an appeal. Consequently, no provision has been made for any expenses which might
arise as a result of the dispute.

(b)On 26 October 2011, CNOOC Exploration & Production Nigeria Limited (“CNOOC Nigeria”), a subsidiary of the
Company, received notice of assessment from Federal Inland Revenue Service of Nigeria (“FIRS”), confirming that
the effective Petroleum Profit Tax (“PPT”) and related tax in the year of 2010 for the Company’s investment in the
OML130 project, shall be calculated and payable on the basis of the PPT Tax Return prepared by Nigerian
National Petroleum Corporation. CNOOC Nigeria contested the notice of assessment. On 13 January 2012,
CNOOC Nigeria, together with SAPETRO (collectively referred to as the “PSC Partners”), filed an appeal in
relation thereto to the local Tax Appeal Tribunal (“TAT”).

CNOOC Nigeria received a notice of assessment issued by FIRS on 13 June 2012, stating that investment tax

allowance (“ITA”), instead of investment tax credit (“ITC”), should be applied for the PPT calculation of the Company’s

investment in the OML130 project. In July 2012, PSC Partners filed an appeal in relation thereto to the local TAT.
However, whether TAT has jurisdiction over this dispute is uncertain under the Nigerian law, in order to protect the
right of action, the PSC Partners filed an application to the Nigeria Federal High Court (“FHC”) on 13 September 2012,
seeking the permission to file a lawsuit over the application of ITA/ITC dispute at FHC; and the appeal over ITA/ITC
dispute at TAT was withdrawn on 9 November 2012.

No verdict has been issued to date, and the results of the appeals are still uncertain.

(c)The Company has extended interest-free intercompany loans to CNOOC International Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary, to provide onward funding to its subsidiaries domiciled outside the PRC. Upon receipt of the Chinese
resident enterprise approval, the Company may be liable to pay taxes on the deemed interest income for the
intercompany loan to CNOOC International Limited starting from 1 January 2008. The Company is currently
applying to, and awaiting confirmation from its in-charge tax authority for an exemption on this possible deemed
interest income. In July 2011, the Company completed the transfer of the interest-free intercompany loans to the
capital investment in CNOOC International Limited, in order to reduce the future tax exposure arising from any
deemed interest income for the intercompany loans.

(d)Two oil spill accidents occurred on 4 June and 17 June 2011 respectively at Platforms B and C of Penglai 19-3
oilfield, which is being operated under a production sharing contract (“PSC”) among CNOOC China Limited, the
subsidiary of the Company, and two subsidiaries of ConocoPhillips (“ConocoPhillips”), the US based oil company,
among which ConocoPhillips China Inc. (“COPC”) is the operator and responsible for the daily operations of the
oilfield.

On 21 June 2012, the State Oceanic Administration of the PRC announced the Accident Investigation and Settlement
Report by a Joint Investigation Team on the Penglai 19-3 Oilfield Oil Spill Accidents, pointing out that “the Joint
Investigation Team has concluded that COPC violated the oilfield Overall Development Program, had defects
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in its operation procedures and management, and failed to take necessary precautionary measures against foreseen
risks, all of which eventually resulted in the oil spills. The Penglai 19-3 Oilfield Oil Spill Accidents were accidents
involving liabilities, causing significant marine pollution by oil spill. Pursuant to the PSC, COPC (the operator of the
oilfield) shall bear full responsibility for the oil spill accidents”.

The Company is of the view that the Company’s obligations, if any, arising from the above mentioned accidents shall
be determined in accordance with relevant laws and regulations, the PSC and related agreements, among others. Based
on evaluations performed as of the date of this indebtedness statement, the Company believes that it is not possible to
determine provisions, if any, for the above mentioned accidents. The financial impact of such oil spill accidents on the
Company is still uncertain, and the Company has not made any provision for the accidents in the financial statements.

(e)The Company has been served with (via its designated agent for service of process in the United States) process
on 11 October 2012 for a purported class action complaint filed by Sam Siany, individually and on behalf of all
others similarly situated in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the “Complaint”).
The Complaint is lodged against the Company and certain of its directors and/or officers, which alleges that during
the period between 27 January 2011 and 16 September 2011, the Company made materially false and misleading
statements regarding its business and financial results and the oil spill accidents occurred at the Penglai 19-3
oilfield. No verdict has been issued to the date. The Company believes the allegations and the claims in the
Complaint are without merit and intends to defend itself vigorously against such claims.

Liquidity

The Enlarged Group’s debt levels are directly related to its operating cash flows, capital expenditures and acquisition
and divestiture activity. Management generally relies on operating cash flows to fund capital requirements and
maintain liquidity. Given the long development cycle of our projects, and fluctuations in commodity prices and
exchange rates, it is not unusual for capital expenditures to exceed operating cash flows in any given period.
Management covers these differences by drawing on existing liquidity or obtaining additional banking facilities.

As at 31 October 2012, the Enlarged Group had outstanding debt of approximately RMB86,226 million of which
RMB31,627 million is repayable within the next five years. The Enlarged Group had liquidity of approximately
RMB137,409 million, primarily comprised of cash and undrawn term credit facilities. Management expects to be able
to fund all planned capital expenditures, repay our debt when it comes due, and meet all other obligations that arise
from the Enlarged Group’s oil and gas operations.

Currency risk
Management of the Group has assessed the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk by using a sensitivity analysis on

the change in foreign exchange rate of US dollars, to which the Group is mainly exposed to.
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Nexen Group manages its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates by matching its expected net cash flows and
borrowings in the same currency. Cash flows generated by its foreign operations and borrowings on its US dollar debt
facilities are generally used to fund US dollar capital expenditures and debt repayments. Nexen Group maintains
revolving Canadian and US dollar borrowing facilities that can be drawn upon or repaid depending on expected net
cash flows. Nexen Group designates most of its US dollar borrowings as a hedge against its US dollar net investment
in its foreign operations.

Save as aforesaid or as otherwise mentioned herein, and apart from intra-group liabilities, none of the companies in
the Enlarged Group had, at the close of business on 31 October 2012, any outstanding loan capital issued and
outstanding or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, charges or debentures, mortgages, loans or other similar
indebtedness or any finance lease commitments, hire purchase commitments, liabilities under acceptances, acceptance
credits or any guarantees or other material contingent liabilities.

The Directors have confirmed that there have been no material changes in the indebtedness and contingent liabilities
of the Enlarged Group since 31 October 2012.

For the purpose of the above indebtedness statement, foreign currency amounts have been translated into RMB at the
exchange rates of US$1.00 to RMB6.3002 and C$1.00 to RMB6.3037 prevailing at the close of business on 31
October 2012.

3. WORKING CAPITAL

The Directors are of the opinion that, upon the completion of the proposed acquisition of all the common shares and
preferred shares of Nexen, taking into account the present financial resources available to the Enlarged Group,
including internally generated funds, access to financing and available banking facilities, and in the absence of
unforeseeable circumstances, the Enlarged Group will have sufficient working capital for its present requirements for
at least the next 12 months from the date of this circular.

4. NO MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors were not aware of any material adverse change in the financial or

trading position or prospect of the Group since 31 December 2011, the date to which the latest published audited
financial statements of the Group were made up.
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[.LPUBLISHED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF NEXEN GROUP FOR EACH OF THE THREE YEARS ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2009, 2010 AND 2011 AND THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

(1)The following is an extract of the unaudited condensed interim financial statements of Nexen Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2012, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS. These condensed interim financial
statements were presented in C$ million dollars except for otherwise stated.

Nexen’s interim financial statements are available free of charge, in read only, printable format on Nexen’s website.

Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income
For the Three and Six Months Ended June 30

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30 June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011

(Cdn$ millions, except per-share amounts)
Revenues and Other Income
Net Sales 1,659 1,507 3,355 3,105
Marketing and Other Income (Note 8) 128 95 158 141

1,787 1,602 3,513 3,246
Expenses
Operating 376 341 715 704
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization 488 335 885 705
Transportation and Other 105 112 225 179
General and Administrative 115 76 241 181
Exploration 155 93 215 219
Finance (Note 5) 81 60 145 134
Loss on Debt Redemption and Repurchase - 1 - 91
Gain from Dispositions (Note 10) 45 ) - (45 ) -

1,275 1,018 2,381 2,213
Income from Continuing Operations before Provision for Income
Taxes 512 584 1,132 1,033
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(Cdn$ millions, except per-share amounts)
Provision for (Recovery of) Income Taxes
Current

Deferred

Net Income from Continuing Operations
Net Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax
Net Income Attributable to Nexen Inc. Shareholders

Earnings Per Common Share from Continuing Operations
($/share)

(Note 6)

Basic

Diluted

Earnings Per Common Share ($/share)

(Note 6)

Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Three Months Ended

June 30

2012

396

403
109

109

0.20

0.19

0.20
0.19

384
(52
332
252

252

0.48

0.45

0.48
0.45

Six Months Ended
June 30
2011

876 808
(24 73
852 881
280 152

- 302
280 454
0.52 0.29
0.52 0.27
0.52 0.86
0.52 0.84
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

June 30 December
2012 312011

(Cdn$ millions)

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,255 845
Restricted Cash 102 45
Accounts Receivable 1,685 2,247
Derivative Contracts 155 119
Inventories and Supplies 283 320
Other 137 115
Total Current Assets 3,617 3,691
Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 3) 16,030 15,571
Goodwill 292 291
Deferred Income Tax Assets 442 338
Derivative Contracts 5 25
Other Long-Term Assets 112 152
Total Assets 20,498 20,068
Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 2,285 2,867
Income Taxes Payable 849 458
Derivative Contracts 105 103
Total Current Liabilities 3,239 3,428
Non-Current Liabilities

Long-Term Debt 4,391 4,383
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities 1,561 1,488
Asset Retirement Obligations 2,020 2,010
Derivative Contracts 5 24
Other Long-Term Liabilities 443 362
Equity (Note 6)

Share Capital

Common Shares 1,183 1,157
Preferred Shares 195 -
Retained Earnings 7,435 7,211
Cumulative Translation Adjustment 26 5
Total Equity 8,839 8,373
Total Liabilities and Equity 20,498 20,068

See accompanying notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the Three and Six Months Ended June 30

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011

(Cdn$ millions)
Operating Activities
Net Income from Continuing Operations 109 252 280 152
Net Income from Discontinued Operations - - - 302
Charges and Credits to Income not Involving Cash (Note 9) 455 261 906 610
Exploration Expense 155 93 215 219
Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital (Note 9) 446 419 300 485
Other (6 ) (5 ) (34 ) (18 )

1,159 1,020 1,667 1,750
Financing Activities
Repayment of Long-Term Debt - (525 ) - (871 )
Issue of Preferred Shares - - 195 -
Dividends Paid on Common Shares 27 ) (26 ) (53 ) (52 )
Issue of Common Shares 8 8 26 31
Other 4 ) (6 ) (6 ) 1

(23 ) (549 ) 162 (891 )
Investing Activities
Capital Expenditures
Exploration, Evaluation and Development (718 ) (516 ) (1,454 ) (992 )
Corporate and Other (25 ) (20 ) (46 ) (37 )
Proceeds from Dispositions (Note 10) 46 12 53 474
Changes in Restricted Cash (82 ) (2 ) (56 ) (11 )
Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital (Note 9) 23 31 65 115
Other 4 ) (23 ) 5 (75 )

(760 ) (518 ) (1,433 ) (526 )
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents 23 (15 ) 14 (26 )
Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 399 (62 ) 410 307
Cash and Cash Equivalents — Beginning of Period 856 1,374 845 1,005
Cash and Cash Equivalents — End of Period1 1,255 1,312 1,255 1,312

1 Cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2012 consists of cash of $319 million and short-term investments of $936
million (June 30, 2011 — cash of $218 million and short-term investments of $1,094 million).

See accompanying notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Three and Six Months Ended June 30

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011

(Cdn$ millions)
Share Capital
Common Shares, Beginning of Period 1,175 1,134 1,157 1,111
Issue of Common Shares 8 8 26 31
Common Shares, Balance at End of Period 1,183 1,142 1,183 1,142
Preferred Shares, Beginning of Period 195 - — -
Issue of Preferred Shares - - 195 -
Preferred Shares, Balance at End of Period 195 - 195 -
Retained Earnings, Beginning of Period 7,356 6,868 7,211 6,692
Net Income Attributable to Nexen Inc. Shareholders 109 252 280 454
Dividends on Common and Preferred Shares (Note 6) 30 ) (26 ) (56 ) (52 )
Balance at End of Period 7,435 7,094 7,435 7,094
Cumulative Translation Adjustment,
Beginning of Period (8 ) (48 ) 5 (37 )
Currency Translation Adjustment 23 (7 ) 5 (18 )
Realized Translation Adjustmentsl 11 - 16 -
Balance at End of Period 26 (55 ) 26 (55 )

INet of income tax recovery for the three months ended June 30, 2012 of $5 million (2011 — net of income tax expense
of $11 million) and net of income tax recovery for the six months ended June 30, 2012 of $7 million (2011 — net of
income tax expense of $20 million).

See accompanying notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Three and Six Months Ended June 30

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011
(Cdn$ millions)
Net Income Attributable to Nexen Inc. Shareholders 109 252 280 454
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):
Currency Translation Adjustment
Net Translation Gains (Losses) of Foreign Operations 98 35 ) 14 (139 )
Net Translation Gains (Losses) on US$-Denominated Debt
Hedging of Foreign Operations1 (75 ) 28 C ) 121
Total Currency Translation Adjustment 23 7 ) 5 (18 )
Total Comprehensive Income 132 245 285 436

INet of income tax recovery for the three months ended June 30, 2012 of $10 million (2011 — net of income tax
expense of $4 million) and net of income tax recovery for the six months ended June 30, 2012 of $1 million (2011 —
net of income tax expense of $17 million).

See accompanying notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
Cdn$ millions, except as noted

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Nexen Inc. (Nexen, we or our) is an independent, global energy company with operations in the UK North Sea, US
Gulf of Mexico, offshore Nigeria, Canada, Yemen, Colombia and Poland. Nexen is incorporated and domiciled in
Canada and our head office is located at 801-7th Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada. Nexen’s shares are publicly
traded on both the Toronto Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange.

These Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Specifically, they have been prepared in accordance with
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 34 Interim Financial Reporting. The Unaudited Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements do not include all of the information required for annual financial statements and should be read
in conjunction with the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, which
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements were authorized for issue by Nexen’s Board of Directors
on July 18, 2012.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies we follow are described in Note 2 of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the
year ended December 31, 2011. There have been no changes to our accounting policies since December 31, 2011.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (PP&E)

Carrying amount of PP&E

Exploration  Assets Producing

and Under Oil & Gas Corporate

Evaluation  Construction Properties and other Total
Cost
As at December 31, 2011 2,206 2,347 19,832 837 25,222
Addition 390 335 729 46 1,500
Disposals/Derecognitions © ) - (74 ) (15 ) (98 )
Transfers1 - (1,862 ) 1,862 - -
Exploration Expense 215 ) - - - (215 )
Other 17 ) - 51 17 51
Effect of Changes in Exchange Rate 5 1 40 1 47
As at June 30, 2012 2,360 821 22,440 886 26,507
Accumulated Depreciation, Depletion &
Amortization (DD&A)
As at December 31, 2011 368 - 8,860 423 9,651
DD&A 33 - 809 43 885
Disposals/Derecognitions (8 ) - (74 ) (12 ) (94 )
Other - - 8 ) 17 9
Effect of Changes in Exchange Rate - - 26 — 26
As at June 30, 2012 393 - 9,613 471 10,477
Net Book Value
As at December 31, 2011 1,838 2,347 10,972 414 15,571
As at June 30, 2012 1,967 821 12,827 415 16,030

1Includes PP&E costs related to our Usan development, offshore Nigeria which came on-stream February 2012.

Exploration and evaluation assets mainly comprise of unproved properties and capitalized exploration drilling costs.
Assets under construction at June 30, 2012 primarily include our developments in the UK North Sea.

4. LONG-TERM DEBT
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, we borrowed and repaid nil and $254 million on our term credit
facilities, respectively. We recorded $85 million and $10 million, respectively, of unrealized foreign exchange losses
on long-term debt in other comprehensive income.
We have undrawn, committed, unsecured term credit facilities of $3.8 billion, of which $700 million is available until

2014 and $3.1 billion is available until 2017. As at June 30, 2012, $232 million of our term credit facilities were
utilized to support letters of credit (December 31, 2011 — $367 million).
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Nexen has undrawn, uncommitted, unsecured credit facilities of approximately $180 million. We utilized $21 million
of these facilities to support outstanding letters of credit at June 30, 2012 (December 31, 2011 — $17 million).

Nexen has uncommitted, unsecured credit facilities of approximately $214 million exclusively to support letters of
credit. We utilized $3 million of these facilities to support outstanding letters of credit at June 30, 2012 (December 31,
2011 — $4 million).

5. FINANCE EXPENSE

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011

Interest on Long-Term Debt 73 74 148 158
Accretion Expense Related to Asset Retirement Obligations 13 12 26 23

Other Interest and Fees 7 3 12 10

Total 93 89 186 191

Less: Capitalized at 6.7% (2011 — 6.6%) 12 ) (29 ) (41 ) (57 )
Total 81 60 145 134

Capitalized interest relates to and is included as part of the cost of our oil and gas properties. The capitalization rates
are based on our weighted-average cost of borrowings.

6. EQUITY
(a) Common Shares

Authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares of no par value. At June 30, 2012, there
were 529,335,905 common shares outstanding (December 31, 2011 — 527,892,635 common shares).

(b) Preferred Shares

Authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Class A preferred shares of no par value, issuable in
series. At June 30, 2012, there were 8,000,000 Cumulative Redeemable Class A Rate Reset Preferred Shares, Series 2
outstanding (December 31, 2011 — nil).

(c) Earnings Per Common Share (EPS)

We calculate basic EPS using net income attributable to Nexen Inc. shareholders, adjusted for preferred share
dividends and divided by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. We calculate diluted EPS in
the same manner as basic, except we adjust basic earnings for the potential conversion of the subordinated debentures
and potential exercise of outstanding tandem options for shares, if dilutive. We use the weighted-average number of
diluted common shares outstanding in the denominator of our diluted EPS calculation.
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Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011

(Cdn$ millions)
Net Income Attributable to Nexen Inc. Shareholders 109 252 280 454
Preferred Share Dividends 2 ) - A3 ) -
Net Income Attributable to Nexen Inc. Shareholders, Basic 107 252 277 454
Potential Tandem Options Exercises 7 ) (14 ) @3 ) (9 )
Potential Conversion of Subordinated Debentures - 6 13 12
Net Income Attributable to Nexen Inc. Shareholders, Diluted 100 244 287 457
(millions of shares)
Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding,
Basic 529 527 529 527
Common Shares Issuable Pursuant to Tandem Options - 2 - 2
Common Shares Notionally Purchased from Proceeds of
Tandem Options - 2 ) - (2 )
Common Shares Issuable Pursuant to Potential Conversion of
Subordinated Debentures - 20 26 19
Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding,
Diluted 529 547 555 546

In calculating the weighted-average number of diluted common shares outstanding and related earnings adjustments
for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012, we excluded 14,910,152 and 14,879,437 tandem options,
respectively (2011 — 15,068,347 and 15,210,923, respectively) because their exercise price was greater than the average
common share market price in the quarter. During the three months ended June 30, 2012, the potential conversion of
tandem options was the only dilutive instrument. During the six months ended June 30, 2012, and the three and six
months ended June 30, 2011, the potential conversion of tandem options and subordinated debentures were the only
dilutive instruments.

(d) Dividends

We paid dividends of $0.05 and $0.10 per common share, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 ($0.05
and $0.10 per common share for the respective periods ended June 30, 2011). Dividends paid to holders of common
shares have been designated as “eligible dividends” for Canadian tax purposes.

On July 18, 2012, the board of directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.05 per common share, payable October 1,

2012 to the shareholders of record on September 10, 2012. Also, the board of directors declared a quarterly dividend
of $0.3125 per preferred share, payable September 30, 2012 to the shareholders of record on September 10, 2012.
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1. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES

As described in Note 19 to the 2011 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, there are a number of lawsuits and
claims pending, the ultimate results of which cannot be ascertained at this time. We record costs as they are incurred
or become determinable. We believe that payments, if any, related to existing indemnities would not have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition or results of operations.

We assume various contractual obligations and commitments in the normal course of our operations. During the
quarter, we entered into drilling rig commitments in the UK North Sea.

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter
Drilling Rig Commitments - 74 46 - - -

The commitments above are in addition to those included in Note 19 to the 2011 Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements and Note 7 to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the three months ended
March 31, 2012.

8. MARKETING AND OTHER INCOME

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

June 30 June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011

Marketing Revenue, Net 110 51 175 102
Foreign Exchange Gains (Losses) 12 6 4 ) (16 )
Change in Fair Value of Crude Oil Put Options 2 - (34 ) (7 )
Insurance Proceeds - 26 - 26

Other 4 12 21 36

Total 128 95 158 141

9. CASH FLOWS

(a) Charges and credits to income not involving cash

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization 488 335 885 705
Gain from Dispositions (45 ) - (45 ) -
Change in Fair Value of Crude Oil Put Options 2 ) - 34 7
Stock-Based Compensation 2 ) (29 ) 24 2 )
Foreign Exchange (8 ) (6 ) 8 17
Provision for (Recovery of) Deferred Income Taxes 7 (52 ) (24 ) 73
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Loss on Debt Redemption and Repurchase - 1
Non-Cash Items Included in Discontinued Operations - -
Other 17 12
Total 455 261
-1I-11 -
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(b) Changes in non-cash working capital

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011
Accounts Receivable 348 240 513 (134 )
Inventories and Supplies 47 163 40 184
Other Current Assets (15 ) (7 ) @17 ) (9 )
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (283 ) (248 ) (546 ) 169
Current Income Taxes Payable 372 312 375 390
Total 469 450 365 600
Relating to:
Operating Activities 446 419 300 485
Investing Activities 23 31 65 115
Total 469 450 365 600
(c) Other cash flow information
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011
Interest Paid 58 66 148 130
Income Taxes Paid 17 69 497 460

10. DISPOSITIONS
Asset Dispositions
Canadian Undeveloped Leases

During the quarter, we sold non-core leases in Canada for proceeds of $46 million and recognized a gain of $45
million.

11. OPERATING SEGMENTS AND RELATED INFORMATION
Nexen has the following operating segments:
Conventional Oil and Gas: We explore for, develop and produce crude oil and natural gas from conventional sources
around the world. Our operations are focused in the UK North Sea, North America (Canada and US) and other

countries (offshore Nigeria, Colombia, Yemen and Poland).

Oil Sands: We develop and produce synthetic crude oil from the Athabasca oil sands in northern Alberta. We produce
bitumen using in situ and mining technologies and upgrade it into synthetic crude oil before ultimate sale. Our in situ
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activities are comprised of our operations at Long Lake and future development phases. Our mining activities are
conducted through our 7.23% ownership of the Syncrude Joint Venture.

Shale Gas: We explore for and produce unconventional gas from shale formations in northeast British Columbia.
Production and results of operations are included within Conventional Oil and Gas until they become significant.

-1I-12 -
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Corporate and Other includes energy marketing and unallocated items. The results of Canexus have been presented as

discontinued operations.

The accounting policies of our operating segments are the same as those described in Note 2 of our Audited

Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2011. Net income (loss) of our operating
segments excludes interest income, interest expense, income tax expense, unallocated corporate expenses and foreign

exchange gains and losses. Identifiable assets are those used in the operations of the segments.

Segmented net income for the three months ended June 30, 2012

Corporate
and
Conventional Oil Sands Other
United North Other
Kingdom America Countries] In Situ Syncrude
Net Sales 1,028 88 217 173 145 8
Marketing and Other Income 3 — — — 1 124
1,031 88 217 173 146 132
Less:  Expenses
Operating 109 41 43 107 70 6
Depreciation,
Depletion and
Amortization 224 72 112 51 16 13
Transportation and
Other 5 9 - 51 6 34
General and
Administrative 3 22 9 11 - 70
Exploration 19 139 A3 )2 - - -
Finance 6 4 1 - 2 68
Gain on
Dispositions - a3 ) - 32 ) - -
Income (Loss) before
Income Taxes 665 (186 ) 55 (15 ) 52 (59
Provision for
Less: Income Taxes
Net Income
Capital Expenditures 243 177 122 4 127 62 12

1Includes results of operations in Nigeria, Yemen and Colombia.

Total

1,659
128
1,787

376

488
105
115
155

81

@5 )
512
403 3

109
743

2Includes exploration activities primarily in Colombia and Poland, and recovery of previously expensed exploration

costs in Norway.

3Includes UK current tax expense of $380 million.

65



-1I-13 -

Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

4Includes capital expenditures in Nigeria of $91 million.
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Segmented net income for the three months ended June 30, 2011

Corporate
and
Conventional Oil Sands Other
United North Other
Kingdom America  Countries1,2 In Situ Syncrude

Net Sales 764 134 229 188 181 11
Marketing and Other
Income 1 30 3 - 1 60

765 164 232 188 182 71
Less: Expenses
Operating 61 36 35 127 75 7
Depreciation, Depletion
and
Amortization 133 116 23 36 14 13
Transportation and Other — 11 11 51 6 33
General and
Administrative 2 19 8 2 - 45
Exploration 13 41 37 3 2 - -
Finance 5 4 1 - 2 48
Loss on Debt
Redemption - - - - - 1
Income (Loss) before
Income Taxes 551 (63 ) 117 (30 ) 85 (76 )
Less: Provision for
Income Taxes
Net Income
Capital Expenditures 104 123 171 5 91 27 14

1Includes results of operations in Yemen and Colombia.

2Includes Yemen Masila net sales of $169 million and net income before taxes of $78 million.

3Includes exploration activities primarily in Norway, Colombia and Poland.
4Includes UK current tax expense of $323 million.

SIncludes capital expenditures in Nigeria of $114 million.

114 -

Total

1,507

95
1,602

341
335
112
76

93
60

584
332 4

252
530
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Segmented net income for the six months ended June 30, 2012

Corporate
and
Conventional Oil Sands Other Total
United North Other
Kingdom America Countries] In Situ Syncrude

Net Sales 2,194 194 251 391 303 22 3,355
Marketing and Other
Income 9 3 7 — 1 138 158

2,203 197 258 391 304 160 3,513
Less: Expenses
Operating 213 85 52 221 131 13 715
Depreciation, Depletion
and Amortization 470 138 118 100 32 27 885
Transportation and Other 5 16 - 128 12 64 225
General and
Administrative 8 46 18 22 - 147 241
Exploration 30 177 8 2 - - - 215
Finance 12 8 1 1 4 119 145
Gain on Dispositions - (13 ) = 32 ) - - (45
Income (Loss) before
Income Taxes 1,465 (260 ) 61 (49 ) 125 (210 ) 1,132
Less: Provision for
Income Taxes 852
Net Income 280
Capital Expenditures 438 432 252 4 276 82 20 1,500

1Includes results of operations in Nigeria, Yemen and Colombia.

2Includes exploration activities primarily in Colombia and Poland, and recovery of previously expensed exploration
costs in Norway.

3Includes UK current tax expense of $856 million.

4Includes capital expenditures in Nigeria of $187 million.
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Segmented net income for the six months ended June 30, 2011

Corporate
and
Conventional Oil Sands Other
United North Other
Kingdom America Countries1,2n Situ Syncrude
Net Sales 1,726 267 414 303 370 25
Marketing and Other
Income 17 32 7 - 1 84
1,743 299 421 303 371 109
Less:  Expenses
Operating 159 76 70 234 150 15
Depreciation,
Depletion and
Amortization 315 221 48 65 30 26
Transportation
and Other - 15 16 69 12 67
General and
Administrative (10 ) 52 23 13 - 103
Exploration 17 100 100 3 2 - -
Finance 10 8 1 1 3 111
Loss on Debt
Redemption - - - - - 91
Income (Loss) before
Income Taxes 1,252 (173 ) 163 @81 ) 176 (304 )
Provision for
Less: Income Taxes
Income from
Continuing
Operations
Add:  Net Income from
Discontinued
Operations
Net Income
Capital Expenditures 178 242 317 5 220 46 26

2Includes Yemen Masila net sales of $315 million and net income before taxes of $135 million.

1Includes results of operations in Yemen and Colombia.

3Includes exploration activities primarily in Norway, Colombia and Poland.

4Includes UK current tax expense of $749 million.

Total

3,105

141
3,246

704

705
179
181
219
134
91
1,033

881

152

302
454
1,029
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SIncludes capital expenditures in Nigeria of $214 million.
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Segmented assets as at June 30, 2012

Corporate
and
Conventional Oil Sands Other Total
United North Other
Kingdom  America Countries  In Situ Syncrude
Total Assets 5,073 3,516 2,295 6,027 1,436 2,151 1 20,498
Property, Plant and
Equipment Cost 7,519 7,502 2,814 6,191 1,811 670 26,507
Less: Accumulated
DD&A 4,122 4,418 783 301 439 414 10,477
Net Book Value 3,397 3084 2 2031 3 5890 4 1,372 256 16,030

1Includes cash of $667 million, and Energy Marketing accounts receivable, current derivative assets and inventory of
$935 million.

2Includes net book value of $1,495 million associated with our Canadian shale gas operations.
3Includes net book value of $1,896 million related to our Usan development, offshore Nigeria.

4Includes net book value of $5,162 million for Long Lake Phase 1 and $728 million for future phases of our in situ oil
sands projects.

Segmented assets as at December 31, 2011

Corporate
and
Conventional Oil Sands Other Total
United North Other
Kingdom  America Countries  In Situ Syncrude
Total Assets 4,817 3,403 2,138 5,881 1,423 2406 1 20,068
Property, Plant and
Equipment Cost 7,103 7,256 2,566 5915 1,733 649 25,222
Less: Accumulated
DD&A 3,707 4,299 648 205 411 381 9,651
Net Book Value 3,396 2957 2 1918 3 5710 4 1,322 268 15,571

1Includes cash of $453 million, and Energy Marketing accounts receivable, current derivative assets and inventory of
$1,449 million.

2Includes net book value of $1,293 million associated with our Canadian shale gas operations.

3Includes net book value of $1,821 million related to our Usan development, offshore Nigeria.
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4Includes net book value of $5,050 million for Long Lake Phase 1 and $660 million for future phases of our in situ oil
sands projects.
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(2)The following is an extract of the audited financial statements of Nexen Group for the year ended 31 December
2011, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS, from the 2011 annual report and financial statements of
Nexen Group. These financial statements were presented in C$ million dollars except for otherwise stated.

Nexen’s 2011 annual report and financial statements are available free of charge, in read only, printable format on
Nexen’s website.

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT
February 15, 2012
To the Shareholders of Nexen Inc.

We are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements, as well as the
financial reporting process that gives rise to such Consolidated Financial Statements. This responsibility requires us to
make significant accounting judgments and estimates. For example, we are required to choose accounting principles
and methods that are appropriate to the company’s circumstances, and we are required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect amounts reported. Fulfilling this responsibility requires the preparation and presentation of our
Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Historically, we prepared our Consolidated Financial
Statements under previous Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. During the year, we transitioned to
IFRS. To ensure a successful transition, we initiated a company-wide project, established a qualified project team and
engaged external advisors, all under the oversight of senior management and the Audit Committee.

We are responsible for developing and implementing internal controls over the financial reporting process. These
controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance that relevant and reliable financial information is produced. To
gather and control financial data, we have established accounting and reporting systems supported by internal controls
over financial reporting and an internal audit program. We believe that our internal controls over financial reporting
provide reasonable assurance that our assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, that
receipts and expenditures of the company are made only in accordance with authorization of management and
directors of the company and that our records are reliable for preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements and
other financial information in accordance with IFRS and in accordance with applicable securities rules and
regulations. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even
those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement
preparation and presentation.

We have established disclosure controls and procedures, internal controls over financial reporting and corporate-wide
policies to ensure that Nexen’s consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows are presented
fairly. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure timely disclosure and communication of all
material information required by regulators. We oversee, with assistance from our Disclosure Review Committee,
these controls and procedures and all required regulatory disclosures.

- 1I-18 -
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To ensure the integrity of our financial statements, we carefully select and train qualified personnel. We also ensure
our organizational structure provides appropriate delegation of authority and division of responsibilities. Our policies
and procedures are communicated throughout the organization and include a written ethics and integrity policy that
applies to all employees, including the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer
or Controller.

Our board of directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the Consolidated Financial Statements and for
overseeing management’s performance of its financial reporting responsibilities. Their financial statement-related
responsibilities are fulfilled mainly through the Audit and Conduct Review Committee (Audit Committee), with
assistance from the Reserves Review Committee regarding the annual review of our crude oil and natural gas reserves,
and the Finance Committee regarding the assessment and mitigation of financial risk. The Audit Committee is
composed entirely of independent directors and includes five directors with financial expertise. The Audit Committee
meets regularly with management, the internal auditors and the independent registered Chartered Accountants to
review accounting policies, financial reporting and internal control issues and to ensure each party is properly
discharging its responsibilities. The Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment and compensation of the
independent registered Chartered Accountants and also ensures their independence, reviews their fees and (subject to
applicable securities laws) preapproves their retention for any permitted non-audit services. The internal auditors and
independent registered Chartered Accountants have full and unlimited access to the Audit Committee, with and
without the presence of management.

(signed) “Kevin J. Reinhart”
Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

(signed) “Una M. Power”
Interim Chief Financial Officer

- 1I-19 -
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13(a)-15(f)). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our principal executive officer (CEO) and principal financial officer (CFO), we conducted an evaluation of
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation, we
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as of December 31, 2011. We have
documented this assessment and made this assessment available to our independent registered Chartered Accountants.
We recognize that all internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore,
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation and presentation.

Deloitte & Touche LLP audited our Consolidated Financial Statements as stated in their report and has provided an
attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Nexen Inc.

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of Nexen Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”),
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and January 1, 2010, and the
consolidated statements of income, cash flows, changes in equity, and comprehensive income for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Consolidated Financial Statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial
Statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. 